
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
Annual General Meeting of Electors 
 
 
Wednesday 10 December 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 
The Annual General Meeting of Electors of the City of Nedlands will be held on 
Wednesday 10 December 2025 in the Council Chambers at 71 Stirling Highway, 
Nedlands commencing at 5:00 pm.  
 
This meeting will be livestreamed Livestreaming Council & Committee Meetings » City 
of Nedlands 
 
 

 
 
Arthur Kyron | Acting Chief Executive Officer 
4 December 2025 
 
 

https://www.nedlands.wa.gov.au/council/council-meetings/livestreaming-council-committee-meetings.aspx
https://www.nedlands.wa.gov.au/council/council-meetings/livestreaming-council-committee-meetings.aspx
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Information 
 
Notice of Meeting 
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 at least 14 days local public notice 
was given of the availability of the Annual Report (section 5.55) and the date, time, 
place and purpose of the Annual Electors’ Meeting (section 5.29). 
 
The local public notice was provided in accordance with section 1.7 of the Local 
Government Act 1995, by way of the public notice in the Post newspaper on Saturday, 
22 November 2025 and Saturday, 29 November 2025 and on notice boards at the City 
of Nedlands Administration, Nedlands and Mt Claremont Libraries and on the City’s 
website and social media. 
 
Purpose of Meeting 
The purpose of this meeting is to receive the Annual and Financial Reports 2023/24 
and General Business. 
 
Definition of an Elector  
An elector is defined in the Local Government Act 1995 as a person who is eligible to 
be enrolled to vote in an election of the City of Nedlands. 
 
Meeting Guidelines 
In accordance with the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 the 
Mayor is to preside at a General Meeting of Electors and shall determine the procedure 
to be followed as set out below: 
 
 
1. All present are required to sign the attendance register at the entry to the venue, 

including name and address.  
 
2. In accordance with Section 5.31 of the Local Government Act 1995 (LG Act) and 

Regulation 18 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 (LG 
Administration Regs), Minutes will be taken at the meeting. Minutes will be made 
available to the public following the meeting.  

 
3. All members of the public attending the meeting must act in a polite and respectful 

manner before, during and after the meeting. The public is reminded nobody shall 
use any electronic, visual or audio recording device or instrument to record the 
proceedings of the meeting unless that person has been permitted by the 
Presiding Member to do so.  

 
4. To be able to move or second a motion, and vote at an Electors’ Meeting, all 

Electors in attendance must be on the City of Nedlands Electoral roll. Only City 
of Nedlands Electors are eligible to vote, although they are not obliged to do so.  

 
5. During general business questions may only relate to matters that affect the City 

of Nedlands. 
 

https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/legislation/prod/filestore.nsf/FileURL/mrdoc_43667.pdf/$FILE/Local%20Government%20(Administration)%20Regulations%201996%20-%20%5B03-m0-00%5D.pdf?OpenElement
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6. To allow for considered responses to be provided to all enquiries and questions 
it is requested that all formal questions are submitted by 12pm on Tuesday, 9 
December 2025 via council@nedlands.wa.gov.au or using the form on the City’s 
website. 

 
 
Motions and Voting 
1. Proposed motions are requested to be submitted by 12pm on Tuesday, 9 

December 2025 via council@nedlands.wa.gov.au or using the form on the City’s 
website. 

 
2. Motions, where presented in writing, will be read aloud by the Presiding Member 

to ensure that all are clear what they are voting on. Motions from the floor will 
only be accepted at the discretion of the Presiding Member. 

 
3. The Presiding Member will call for a mover and a seconder for a motion. Only 

City of Nedlands Electors may move or second a motion. 
 
4. Both the mover and seconder to a motion may speak on the motion. The mover 

will be able to speak for three minutes, and then the seconder will speak for three 
minutes. The mover and seconder must state their name and address before 
moving or seconding the motion.  

 
5. The Presiding Member will call other speakers to speak to the motion. Ten 

speakers will be allowed to speak for the motion (including the mover and 
seconder), and ten speakers will be allowed to speak against the motion. All 
speakers should be clear and to the point and speak through the Presiding 
Member at all times. Each speaker must state their name and address and 
restrict their comments to the subject of the meeting and will be allowed 3 minutes 
to speak. Members of the public are not permitted to enter into debate with the 
Presiding Member. Speakers should not repeat comments/points already raised 
by another speaker.  

 
6. At the end of the debate for and against the motion, no other items of business 

will be addressed, and the motion will be put to the vote. Once a motion is voted 
upon the Presiding Member will call for any further motions from Electors. 

 
7. No motion or amendment is open to debate until it has been seconded. Only one 

amendment on any one motion shall be received at a time and such amendment 
shall be dealt with before any further amendment can be received. Upon a motion 
being proposed, the Presiding Member will call for speakers to address the Chair.  

8. Regulation 17 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 - 
Voting at meeting. 

 
a. Each elector who is present at a general or special meeting of electors 

is entitled to one vote on each matter to be decided at the meeting but 
does not have to vote. 

 
b. All decisions at a general or special meeting of electors are to be made 

by a simple majority of votes. 

mailto:council@nedlands.wa.gov.au
mailto:council@nedlands.wa.gov.au
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c. Voting at a general or special meeting of electors is to be conducted so 

that no voter’s vote is secret. 
 
9. Voting is determined by a show of hands. 
 
Minutes 
Minutes of this meeting will be available for inspection by members of the public at a 
later date. 
 
Public questions and comments may be recorded and there is no protection from legal 
action being taken against you, should it arise from your comments delivered at the 
meeting. 
 
Decisions Made at a Meeting of Electors 
In accordance with section 5.33 of the Local Government Act 1995 all decisions made 
at a Meeting of Electors are to be considered at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council, 
or, if that is not practicable:  
 
•   At the first Ordinary Meeting of Council after that meeting, or  
•  At a Special Meeting called for that purpose.  
 
It should be noted that any decisions made at a Meeting of Electors are not binding on 
the Council. 
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1 DECLARATION OF OPENING 
 
The Presiding Member will declare the meeting open at 5:00pm and advise the 
meeting is being livestreamed. 
 
2 PRESENT AND APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

(PREVIOUSLY APPROVED) 
 
This item will be dealt with at this point. 
 
3 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 
The Presiding Member will outline the procedures of the meeting as printed on pages 
2 - 4. 
 
4 ANNUAL AND FINANCIAL REPORT 2023/24 
4.1 Annual and Financial Report 2023/24 
 
Presentation of the Annual Report (attachment 1). 
 
On 5 November 2025, Council resolved to accept the City of Nedlands’ 2023/24 Annual 
Report for the year ending 30 June 2024, including the Annual Financial Statements. 
 
The Annual Report comprising:  
 
(a) Mayor’s Report; 
(b) Chief Executive Officer’s Report; 
(c) Annual Financial Report; and 
(d) Auditor’s Report; 
 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 is to be received. 
 
The Annual Report can be viewed by clicking here. 
 
 
Officer Recommendation  
 
That the 2023/24 Annual Report for the City of Nedlands be accepted. 
 
Voting Requirements 
 
Simple majority. 
 

 

https://www.nedlands.wa.gov.au/documents/1023/annual-and-financial-report-2023-24
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The City of Nedlands is proud to present our Annual Report for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2024.

The report outlines the City’s financial and operational performance for the year against our 
Council Plan.

It is the aim of the City to meet the ever-changing needs and expectations of the community 
as is detailed throughout the Annual Report.

Information in this document is accurate as at time of publishing.

Welcome to the  
2023-24 Annual Report

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

The City of Nedlands acknowledges the traditional custodians of this land, the Whadjuk 
people of the Noongar Nation, and pays respect to Elders both past, present and emerging.

Front cover artwork: Housework by Judith Forrest, 2006. Bronze sculpture, located in Loneragan Street, 
Nedlands. Part of the Snapshots from Lupin Hill collection.
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The Commissioners commenced at the City of 
Nedlands, following the resignation and dismissal 
of the Council and were sworn in on 25 July 2025. 

On behalf of the City of Nedlands, it is my pleasure 
to present the Annual Report for the 2023/2024 
financial year. The Local Government Act 1995 
requires every local government to produce an 
Annual Report by 31 December each year. The 
Annual Report is being delivered late due to:

	• Delayed completion of the 2022/23 financial 
report caused by the City’s inability to produce 
appropriate records to support the amounts 
stated in the financial report, together with 
the auditor ’s concerns about the valuations 
of non-current assets, which resulted in the 
auditor issuing a disclaimer of opinion;

	• Taking an increased amount of time to resolve 
matters relating to the prior year disclaimer of 
opinion, which resulted in the first draft of the 
2023/24 financial report not being provided 
to the auditor until early December 2024; 

	• Throughout 2024 and to April 2025 the City 
had a high turnover of staff including those 
people with knowledge of the 2023/24 
financial year. The audit work was not 
recommenced until February 2025 and 
following multiple iterations of the financial 
report, which further hampered responses 
to the auditor, an appropriate draft was not 
provided to the auditor until late June 2025.

Although the financial reporting capability of the 
City has continued to improve since 2022/23, the 
auditor has expressed a qualified opinion on the 
financial report for 2023/24 due to the possible 
effect of the prior year disclaimer of opinion on 
the comparability of the current year’s figures 

Introductory Statement  
by the Commissioner

A special thank you to our 
community members who 
continue to support each 
other and the City.

“

and the corresponding prior year’s figures. 
Further details relating to the opinion can be 
found on page 48 of the Financial Report.

The Annual Report promotes community 
awareness of the City’s programs and 
services, which contribute to a better quality of 
life for our residents, stakeholders and visitors. 
The report also demonstrates our performance 
against the long-term vision of the City of 
Nedlands Council Plan (2023-2033). 

A highlight of our reporting year is the 
tremendous work done by our team at the 
Tresillian Art Centre. There were nine separate 
exhibitions featuring work from established 
and emerging artists, including the City’s 
popular Emerge Youth Art Awards.

A special thank you to our community 
members who continue to support each 
other and the City, as we continue to move 
our aspirations and goals into action. I look 
forward to continuing to work closely with 
the administration to ensure we are meeting 
our goals and paving the way for future 
generations to one day enjoy the beauty of  
the City of Nedlands. 

Professor David Caddy
Chair of Commissioners
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Our History
On 1 July 1959 Nedlands was declared a City by 
the Governor, Sir Charles Gairdner after years 
of petitioning by the Nedlands Road Board. 

According to Council minutes from 2 July 
1959, 300 ratepayers packed into Dalkeith 
Civic Hall to hear the proclamation. John 
Charles Smith became the first Mayor and 
would go on to dedicate 43 years of his life 
to the local government of Nedlands. 

Since then, the City of Nedlands has been 
led by 13 Mayors and has celebrated 65 years 
of service delivery for our community.

Nedlands Today
The City of Nedlands is located seven 
kilometres west of Perth CBD and is situated 
within the prosperous western suburbs. The 
City of Nedlands is comprised of four Wards: 
Coastal Ward, Hollywood Ward, Melvista 
Ward and Dalkeith Ward. More than 22,000 
people call the City of Nedlands home.

Stretching from the banks of the Swan River 
to the shores of the Indian Ocean, the City 
of Nedlands provides its residents with a 
relaxed and abundant lifestyle. The City 
includes the suburbs of Nedlands, Dalkeith, 
Mt Claremont, Swanbourne, Karrakatta, along 
with parts of Floreat and Shenton Park. 

Our City is characterised by its leafy suburbs, 
abundant bushland, and expansive public 
open spaces – providing our residents 
with ample opportunities to connect with 
nature and with each other. Our playing 
fields and open spaces are well used by 
our residents who enjoy an outdoor life.

Located on Whadjuk Nyoongar Boodja, local 
lands and waterways provided abundant food 
and shelter for the Mooro peoples, a sub-
group of Nyungar peoples, for 45,000 years. 
Nanulgurup, the shoreline along Birdwood 
Parade Reserve, was a meeting place and 
Traditional Custodians established early tracks 
that became Stirling Highway, Princess Road, 
Gugeri Street, and Victoria Avenue. Europeans 
settled in the area in 1831, with the creation of 
Dalkeith Farm market garden and orchard. 

In the 1850-60’s, Colonel John Bruce invested 
in the area for his son Edward, known as Ned, 
creating “Ned’s lands”. The late 1800’s and 
early 1900’s saw the continued development 
of Nedlands as an important transportation 
route and a preferred location for hospitals, 
defence, and educational institutions. 

Many significant community and public 
purpose facilities are located in the area, such 
as Hollywood Private Hospital, Irwin Barracks, 
Shenton College, HBF Stadium, West Metro 
Recycling Centre and Karrakatta Cemetery. 

With natural vegetation ranging from coastal 
shrublands and grasslands, to Banksia, Marri, 
Jarrah and Tuart woodlands, and bushlands along 
the Swan River, these areas provide important 
habitat and ecological linkages for local flora 
and fauna, including Carnaby’s Black-Cockatoos 
and Forest Redtailed Black-Cockatoos. The 
City ensures that these areas are protected and 
preserved for all to enjoy, explore and admire.

Our City
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Fast facts

Community  
Services Facilities 
Libraries: 2 

Childcare Facilities: 1 

22,132
People

2

1.9
8,369
Dwellings

5,950
Families

$3,500
Median monthly 
mortgage repayments

$3,226
Median weekly 
household income

$520
Median weekly 
household rent

39.9%
Both parents born 
overseas

Mandarin, Cantonese, 
Italian, French and 
Indonesian.

Average number of 
cars per household

Male
49.3%

Female
50.7%

Average number of 
children per family

Median age

Population 
Projections
2050: 31,000-34,000
(Estimate – based on State 
Government-driven urban 
dwelling infill target of 4,400  
new dwellings by 2050).

Dwellings 
Projections 
By 2050, an additional 
4,400 new dwellings – State 
Government-driven urban 
dwelling infill target.

Top languages spoken 
other than English

Data above as at 2021 Census.
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Our Council
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About Council and the Wards 
At the end of the 2023-2024 financial year, the City of Nedlands Council was comprised of eight 
Council Members and a Mayor. 

Council Members are elected to represent their Council Ward. Each of the City’s four wards are 
represented by two Council Members and the Mayor is elected to represent the entire electorate.
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Council Members 2023-2024

Farewells
Leo McManus, resigned, June 2024

Andrew Mangano, not re-elected, October 2023

Rajah Senathirajah, not re-elected, October 2023

Olinka Combes, resigned, September 2023

Fiona Argyle,  
Mayor

Noel Youngman,  
Dalkeith Ward

Blane Brackenridge, 
Melvista Ward

Kerry Smyth,  
Deputy Mayor, Coastal Ward

Fergus Bennett,  
Dalkeith Ward

Ben Hodsdon,  
Hollywood Ward

Hengameh Amiry, 
Coastal Ward

Rebecca Coghlan, 
Melvista Ward

Melanie Pollard, 
Hollywood Ward
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The Local Government Act 1995 sets out 
the general function of local government, 
which is to provide for the good government 
of people in their district (Section 3.1). 

The Council is the local government’s 
governing body and is responsible for the 
performance of the local government’s 
functions (Section 2.7). This includes setting 
policies, allocating resources, determining 
services, and planning strategically for the 
future of the district.

To support this role, the Act requires each local 
government to “plan for the future” through 
integrated strategic planning (Section 5.56).  
The section “Our Council Plan for the Future” 
provides an overview of the Council Plan.

“The City of Nedlands Governance Framework Policy sets out 
the Council’s decision-making process including meeting 
structures and cycle, to provide for better transparency, 
efficiency, participation and statutory compliance.

Governance 
and Strategy

Governance Framework
The City of Nedlands Governance Framework 
Policy sets out the Council’s decision-making 
process including meeting structures and cycle, 
to provide for better transparency, efficiency, 
participation and statutory compliance.

The policy’s key objectives aim to ensure:

	• Council Members are engaged in the 
development of strategy and policy from 
initiation to adoption

	• Council Members are provided with accurate, 
relevant and timely information by the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) to inform quality 
decision-making

	• Community members can participate in the 
decision-making process and have access to 
information used to inform Council decisions.

A copy of the Governance Framework, 
detailing the Council decision making process 
as shown on the following page, can be 
accessed on the City of Nedlands website.
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Council Decision Making Meeting Process

* December OCM is held on 3rd Tuesday of month  |  No OCM in January  |  No OCM in October of ordinary election year

First 
Tuesday of 
the month

Concept  
Forum
Closed to public
5.30pm - 7.30pm

To discuss

	• Complex matters
	• Review and performance measurement of strategies
	• Other matters supported by 3+ Councillors

Agenda, briefing and discussion papers added to Councillor portal by COB Friday before 1st Tuesday of month. 

1

Second 
Tuesday of 
the month

Agenda  
Forum
Open to public
6pm start

Agenda added to Councillor portal and City ’s website by COB Thursday before Agenda forum. 

Opportunity for Council Members to ask questions 
and seek information on items to be considered at the 
forthcoming Ordinary Council Meeting

Members of the public may make presentations or ask 
questions on items contained within the agenda

2

Fourth 
Tuesday of 
the month

Ordinary  
Council  
Meeting
Open to public
6pm start

Agenda added to Councillor portal and City ’s website by 2pm Friday before OCM

Council Members to consider items on the agenda 
comprising of officer ’s reports and recommendations

Members of the public may make presentations or ask 
questions on items contained within the agenda

4

Third 
Tuesday of 
the month

Concept  
Forum
Closed to public
5.30pm - 7.30pm

To discuss

	• Complex matters
	• Review and performance measurement of strategies
	• Other matters supported by 3+ Councillors

Agenda added to Councillor portal and City ’s website by COB Thursday before Agenda forum. 

3
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Risk Management
Risk management is an integral part of good 
management practice. It is also an essential 
element of sound corporate governance. 
Strategic and operational risks such as 
those associated with health and safety, 
financial, customer, social/cultural heritage, 
reputation, environment, as well as legal and 
compliance are all considered by leadership 
when making decisions or providing 
services and projects to the community.

The City is committed to maturing the risk 
management function to enable more robust 
corporate planning, decision-making and 
continuous business improvement in corporate 
performance. Council approved a Risk 
Management Framework, Risk Management 
Policy and adopted a Strategic Risk Register 
during the 2023-24 financial year.

Audit

Internal Audit

Internal Audit services at the City of Nedlands 
are provided by external consultant Moore 
Australia (WA) Pty Ltd, supplying an 
independent, objective review and advisory 
service to provide assurance that the City’s 
financial and operational controls are operating 
in an efficient, effective and ethical manner. 

Internal audits considered by the Audit 
and Risk Committee in 2023-24:

	• Post implementation review of the ERP system

	• Planning approvals process

	• Cyber security

	• Delegations of authority

	• Waste management.

The City is committed to maturing 
the risk management function 
to enable more robust corporate 
planning, decision-making and 
continuous business improvement 
in corporate performance.
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About the City 
of Nedlands 

Our Organisation
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the management of the City of Nedlands 
administration. The CEO provides overall strategic direction, leadership and coordination of 
operations. Along with the Directors and staff, the CEO actions Council decisions by developing 
and implementing the Council’s resolutions. During the financial 2023/2024 year there were three 
separate Chief Executive Officers.

Accountability We conduct our business and all our services in an 
open, transparent and financially responsible manner.

We work together for the benefits of the community.Partnership

We provide consistent, fair and unbiased treatment for 
the whole the community.Fairness

Organisation Values
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Chief Executive Officer and Executive 
Management Team 
At end of 2024

Bill Parker 
Chief Executive Officer 

Appointment

4 July 2022 – 1 December 2023

Office of the Chief Executive 
The Office of the Chief Executive develops and implements 
strategic plans that enable the organisation to deliver the 
community’s vision and aspirations. It is responsible for 
Council Member Liaison, Strategic Planning and Projects, 
Governance, Legal, Risk Management, Human Resources, 
Communications and Engagement. It is also responsible for 
Community Development and Community Service Centres.

Keri Shannon 
Chief Executive Officer 

Appointment

1 May 2024 (permanent appointment)

14 City of Nedlands  |  Annual Report 2023-24BACK TO CONTENTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 22



Planning and Development Directorate

The Planning and Development Directorate performs research 
and creates the plans required to deliver a liveable, prosperous 
and sustainable City. It is responsible for Strategic and Statutory 
planning, Building Services and Environmental Health, 
Environmental Conservation, Sustainability and Ranger Services. 

Tony Free 
Director Planning and Development 

Appointment

20 January 2022 – 11 March 2025

Technical Services Directorate

The Technical Services Directorate designs, constructs, 
manages and maintains infrastructure, buildings, fleet assets 
and the City of Nedlands’ public spaces. It is responsible 
for City Projects, Civil Maintenance, Building Maintenance, 
Asset Management, Transport and Development, Fleet 
Management, Parks Maintenance and Arboriculture.

Matthew Macpherson 
Director Technical Services

Appointment

3 January 2023 – 30 November 2024

Supporting the CEO is the Executive Management Team (EMT):

Corporate Services Directorate

The Corporate Services Directorate is responsible for corporate 
matters and provides services to internal teams. This includes 
General Financial Services, Land and Property, Information, 
Communication and Technology (ICT), and Information and Record 
Management. It is also responsible for Customer Services, which 
facilitates both internal and external community interactions.

Customer service is a strong focus of the City, work has progressed 
on strategies to improve messaging and response times to all 
residents and communities.  

Michael Cole
Director Corporate Services 

Appointment

14 March 2022 – 2 July 2024
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Organisational Structure 
Detailed below is the City of Nedlands organisational structure by Directorate 
and Service Team.

Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Services

Corporate Services 
AdministrationCEO Office

Members of Council

Governance and Legal

Strategic Planning 
and Projects

Corporate 
Communications

Human Resources

Customer and 
Community Services 

Administration

Planning and 
Development Services 

Administration

Technical Services 
Administration

Building Services City Projects and 
Programs

Environmental Health Civil Maintenance

Environmental 
Conservation Building Maintenance

Ranger Services Asset Management

Urban Planning 
– Statutory Fleet Management

Urban Planning 
– Strategic Waste Management

Transport and 
Development

Parks Maintenance

Arboriculture

Library Services

Childcare Services

Positive Ageing

Community 
Development

Community Programs 
and Events

Sport and Recreation

Volunteer Services

Youth Development

Tresillian Arts Centre

Nedlands 
Community Care

Land and Property

General Financial 
Services

OneCouncil Project

Information and 
Records Management

Customer Services

Information and 
Communication 

Technology

Office of the CEO Community and 
Community Services

Planning and 
Development Technical Services

Source: “Our Plan for the Future - City of Nedlands - Council Plan 2023-24” page 52- 54
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Headcount

Employee 
Demographics (%)

Employees 
by age (%)

Under 25
Female employees

54.9%

Female employees 
in management

35.7%

First Nations 
People

0%

Employees 
with disability

1.2%

Employees from culturally 
diverse backgrounds

20.4%

4.3%

25-34 30.3%

35-44 25.9%

45-54 22.2%

55-64 14.8%

65 and over 2.5%

Male employees 
in management

64.3%

Male employees

45.1%

Full Time 
employees127 Part Time 

employees24 Casual 
employees11

Total number of employees 
on the payroll system as 
of 30 June 2024 was  162

Workforce

Please note: Percentages above are rounded up.
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Our Council Plan 
for the Future

WA Local Governments are required to 
“plan for the future” (Local Government Act 
1995 Section 5.56). This plan comprises two 
parts: a strategic community plan and a 
corporate business plan (Local Government 
(Administration) Regulations 1996 19BA). 

A Strategic Community Plan (SCP) sets out the 
long-term vision, aspirations and objectives of 
the community and the Corporate Business Plan 
(CBP) outlines a local government’s priorities to 
address these, in accordance with its capacities 
and resources, and through supporting services 
and actions (Local Government (Administration) 
Regulations 1996 Part 5 Division 3).

The City of Nedlands undertook a major review 
of its SCP and CBP from December 2022 
to November 2023. This involved extensive 
community and stakeholder engagement and 
resulted in Council adopting Our Plan for the 
Future – City of Nedlands Council Plan 2023-
34 (Council Plan) on the 28 November 2023. 

The Council Plan addresses all the legislated 
requirements for a SCP and CBP, and integrates 
resourcing, finance, assets and workforce, with 
the first year of the Plan being 2023-2024.

Sustainable Development

The City of Nedlands Council Plan 2033-2033 
was developed within the broader framework 
of and reflects the City’s commitment 
to UN Sustainable Development Goals 
(OCM 27 September 2022), and a local 
government’s role to “promote economic, 
social and environmental sustainability” 
(Local Government Act 1995 Section 3.1(1A)), 
also reflected in the City’s purpose below.

The City of Nedlands 
exists to meet the 
needs of current and 
future generations 
through an integration 
of environmental 
protection, social 
advancement and 
economic prosperity.

OUR PURPOSE
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To be sustainable and 
responsible for a bright future.

Our 10 year vision
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Our Vision
The Council Plan reflects this sustainability commitment in the City’s vision 
and the 12 desired outcomes across the strategic pillars of people, planet, 
place, prosperity and performance.

We are a harmonious, inclusive, and healthy community where 
people enjoy living through different ages and life-stages.People

We live sustainably within the natural environment, 
clean and green, with a healthy, growing urban forest.Planet

We are growing and developing responsibly to enhance 
our lifestyle, unique heritage and character, and beautiful 
parks and gardens.

Place

We are a smart, connected community with access to quality 
life-long learning opportunities and vibrant town centres.Prosperity

We have collaborative leadership, working with the community 
and key stakeholders to strengthen overall quality of life.Performance

“Our Plan for the Future – City of Nedlands Council Plan 2023-2033” is available on the City of 
Nedlands website. It details the plans for 2023-2024 and outlines the major initiatives proposed  
to commence and continue in the next financial year and following years.

The City’s performance across 2023-2024 is presented against these five strategic pillars in the 
following section, “Delivering to Our Community”.
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Service Area Performance 
The following pages provide an overview of the City’s performance delivering the Council Plan 
services, projects and the City’s leadership to the community over the 2023-2024 reporting period. 

This section is set out according to the Council Plan strategic pillars – people, planet, place, prosperity 
and performance – with each part listing strategic pillar outcomes, objectives and services; setting out 
the services provided across 2023-2024* and finally an overview of service performance, measured 
through the Community Scorecard 2023** and progress with Council Plan Actions across 2023-2024***.

*City services are defined in the Service Plans 2023-24, available on the City’s website.

**The Community Scorecard was published in the City of Nedlands Council Plan 2023-33, page 63, available on the City’s website.

***Council Plan 2023-33 Report, received by Council at the OCM on 23 April 2024.

Delivering to Our Community
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People
We are a harmonious, inclusive, and healthy 
community where people enjoy living through 
different ages and life-stages.

1. Art, culture and heritage are valued and celebrated

1.1 Grow participation in the arts, cultural activities, and community events.

1.2 Recognise and celebrate local First Nations peoples, places and stories.

1.3 Preserve and showcase local history and heritage.

2. A healthy, active and safe community

2.1 Facilitate community health and wellbeing.

2.2 Grow participation in sport and recreation activities.

2.3 Grow participation in volunteering.

2.4 Encourage the responsible ownership of pets.

2.5 Provide safe community spaces.

3. A caring and supportive community for all ages and abilities

3.1 Support the health and wellbeing of families and children.

3.2 Support young people to flourish.

3.3 Support people to age safely, happily, with dignity and respect.

3.4 Advance opportunities, community participation and quality of life for people with disability.

Outcomes and Objectives
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	• Community Development

	• Community Programs and Events

	• Sport and Recreation Services

	• Volunteer Services

	• Positive Ageing Program

	• Nedlands Community Care  
(Service ceased Dec 2023)

	• Youth Development

	• Childcare Services

	• Tresillian Arts Centre

	• Environmental Health

	• Ranger Services.

Services

Services: Definition and Key Points 2023-24

Community Development

Service Definition 2023-24:

Develops, plans and implements a suite of projects and programs that lead, facilitate or advocate 
the development of strategic community partnerships. Builds capacity and empowerment within the 
community to develop and implement sustainable solutions that respond to local needs, and are aimed 
at improving social resilience, health and wellbeing of the City’s community and its neighbourhoods.

Community Development sub-services include:

	• Reconciliation 

	• Disability access and inclusion

	• Public art.

KEY POINTS

	• Ongoing work to ensure all internal team consider access and inclusion requirements 
in City strategies, projects and service delivery

	• Installation of a sensory garden at the Jo Wheatley All Abilities Play Space

	• The annual Emerge Youth Art Awards held in July 2023 and several students from 
DADAA, an organisation that provides access to arts and culture for people with a 
disability in Western Australia, submitted their work

	• Installation of a universal shelter table at the Hollywood Tennis Courts to replace a 
rusted-out asset.

24 City of Nedlands  |  Annual Report 2023-24BACK TO CONTENTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 32



The Disability Services Act 1993 requires all 
Local Governments to develop and implement 
a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP). 
The City of Nedlands DAIP outlines the actions 
the City will undertake to improve inclusion 
and ensure access to facilities, services and 
resources for people living with disability.

In 2023, the City developed a revised DAIP 
for the 2023-2028 period. This was developed 
with input from the community and key 
stakeholders, and the plan was lodged 
with the Department of Communities.

Community consultation for the DAIP was 
conducted through several accessible methods, 
including online surveys, printed surveys, 
and two drop-in sessions held at the City’s 
Nedlands and Mt Claremont libraries.

The primary focus of the DAIP is to provide 
equitable access and opportunity for people with 
disability. The plan also benefits other groups of 
people within our community such as seniors, 
youth, families, and people from minority groups 
who may face language or cultural barriers.

DISABILITY ACCESS AND 
INCLUSION PLAN 2023-2028
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Community Program and Events

Service Definition 2023-24:

Strengthen local connections and community spirit by bringing people together at a wide range of 
local events, including those provided by the City and those provided by the community itself.

Community Programs and Events sub-services include:

	• Community programs

	• Community grants

	• Community events

	• External event approvals

	• Citizenship services.

	• Citizenship Ceremonies to welcome 
and celebrate new Australian Citizens 
were held in January, May and 
September

	• 89 City of Nedlands residents were 
welcomed as Australian Citizens

	• 300 community members attended 
the 2024 Anzac Day Ceremony held 
in partnership with the Nedlands RSL

	• Community Grants were provided 
for several events including, Deaf 
Community Markets, Ability Heroes 
Friendship Group Meetings, Sporting 
Club Open Days, Local street parties.

KEY POINTS

26 City of Nedlands  |  Annual Report 2023-24BACK TO CONTENTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 34



Sport and Recreation Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provides point-of-contact for the City’s sporting clubs, enables the City’s 34 sporting clubs’ 
orderly use of City facilities and secures grant funding for the upgrade of sporting facilities.

Sport and Recreation Services sub-services include:

	• Reserve bookings

	• Facility usage

	• Sports club liaison

	• Community Sport and Recreation Facilities Fund.

	• Reserves and sporting clubs include: 3 cricket clubs, 2 rugby clubs, 3 AFL clubs, 2 
hockey clubs, 2 soccer clubs, 3 tennis clubs, 2 yacht clubs, 2 golf courses, 2 bowls clubs, 
1 croquet club, 1 surf lifesaving club, 1 futsal court, 1 sand volleyball court, 1 skate park,  
1 bike pump track 

	• Outdoor fitness equipment provided at: Beaton Park – Jo Wheatley All Abilities Play 
Space, Charles Court Reserve, College Park and Melvista Park

	• Charles Court Reserve in Dalkeith hosted several international teams to train for the 
2024 HSBC World Rugby Sevens Series

	• 3 Nedlands senior sporting teams were grand final winners in their respective 
competitions in 2023-2024.

KEY POINTS
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Volunteer Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Building a more self-reliant and connected community by involving volunteers in the delivery of Council-
provided services. Decreases dependence on government services and builds local relationships.

Volunteer Services sub-services include:

	• Volunteer services

	• Volunteer appreciation event.

	• Over 130 volunteers gave their time, knowledge and skills to extend services  
for our community

	• Over 4,930 hours were contributed by City of Nedlands volunteers to extend crucial 
services to the local community

	• Volunteers contributed to the delivery of services at Tresillian Arts Centre, Nedlands 
and Mt Claremont libraries, Bushcare, Local Studies archives, Nedlands Community 
Care, Positive Ageing, Audit and Risk Committee and the Public Art Committee.

KEY POINTS
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Two eminent City of Nedlands residents 
were awarded the honorary status of 
Freeman of the City of Nedlands.

Christian Martineau and Christine Martineau 
were bestowed with the title at a formal 
ceremony at the Cottesloe Golf Club on the 
evening of Wednesday 22 November 2023.

The City of Nedlands Mayor, Fiona Argyle, said:

“The City is proud to have officially recognised 
Christian and Christine Martineau for their 
contribution to our community, and to officially 
bestow the honorary title of Freeman of the City.”

“I am proud to have initiated the nominations for 
our new Freemen. They are each outstanding 
individuals who have contributed so much 
to the betterment of the community.”

Mr and Mrs Martineau have served the 
community of the City of Nedlands, and the wider 
Perth community, for close to four decades. Their 
pride and joy, Martineau’s Patisserie, offered more 
than just baked goods – it served as a meeting 
place where the community could connect.

Martineau’s Patisserie opened in 1987 in the 
Captain Stirling Shopping Centre where it 
continued to operate until its recent closure.

In her speech at the formal ceremony,  
Mayor Argyle said:

“Martineau’s [Patisserie] has been the anchor 
of the Nedlands community. It was one of 
the few cafes that remained open throughout 
the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
became somewhat of a community centre 
for many generations over many years.” 

Mr and Mrs Martineau officially bring the 
City’s total number of Freeman of the City 
to six, the maximum number of persons that 
may hold the honorary title at a given time.

Christian Martineau and Christine Martineau 
join the current Freeman of the City:

	• Gordon Davies

	• Sue Morey OAM FRCNA

	• Mary ‘Lennie’ McCall AM

	• Ruth Reid (deceased).

TWO NEW FREEMAN OF THE CITY WELCOMED
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Youth Development

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide events, activities and grants that connect local children, young people and their families 
with their local community.

Youth Development sub-services include:

	• Youth events and activities

	• Children’s events and activities

	• Youth grants

	• School pools subsidy 

	• School holiday programs.

	• Youth Grants supported YouthCare Chaplaincy services at Shenton College, and 
young people seeking funding to attend local, national and international programs in 
the areas of sports and community

	• 172, a record number of young artists (12-25 years) submitted entries for the  
Emerge Youth Art Awards

	• Pool Subsidy Program supported, and enabled broader community 
access to, the Hollywood Primary School swimming pool.

KEY POINTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 38



Childcare Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide Commonwealth accredited, open plan (mixed-age groups) long day care for children 
from eight months to six years for residents and ratepayers in the City of Nedlands.

Childcare Services sub-services include:

	• Childcare services

	• Point Resolution Childcare Centre (PRCC).

Positive Ageing Program

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide a positive ageing program to support seniors in the City of Nedlands through the Affinity 
Club and Connected Seniors program. The Affinity Club provides activities and events for the 
well-aged 55+. The Connected Seniors program provides events and information sessions for 
all Nedlands’ seniors and liaises with other agencies, NFP’s and Government departments.

Positive Ageing Program sub-services include:

	• Affinity Club

	• Connected Seniors.

	• PRCC maintained an 87% capacity rate throughout 2023-2024

	• PRCC received a 100% service satisfaction rate in the annual parent survey.

	• The Affinity Club had 287 members as of June 2024

	• The Positive Ageing Program provides 18 weekly activities for people aged 55+

	• Waratah Walkers celebrated 15 years of walking and connecting. 

KEY POINTS

KEY POINTS
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Following the closure of the Nedlands 
Community Care in December 2023, the 
City of Nedlands undertook a review of 
the services and programs offered for 
seniors. The overall aim of this review was 
to consider how the City’s services could 
provide further opportunities for collaboration 
with neighbouring Councils, increase 
accessibility for participants, and improve 
the service’s financial sustainability.

Part of this review involved community 
consultation with service providers, 
service users, and the wider community 
to better understand community needs 
and expectations. We learned that our 
older people wanted more affordable 
activities, more variety, and more locations 
to participate in events and activities. This 
led to a ‘new look’ Positive Ageing Program. 
The City moved to a facilitation model in 
partnership with the tutors and instructors 
running services and activities for seniors. 

NEW LOOK FOR POSITIVE AGEING PROGRAM

Nedlands Community Care
The Nedlands Community Care Service (NCC), providing Commonwealth Home Support Programme 
Services, ceased in December 2023, in accordance with the City of Nedlands Workforces Plan and 
Council Resolution on 28 February 2023.

The new look Positive Ageing Program 
replaces the pre-existing Affinity Club 
model and now provides seniors with 
access to an increased number and 
variety of activities without the need to 
pay a membership fee. Additionally, many 
activities are facilitated by City of Nedlands 
volunteers and are provided free of charge.

Providing the Positive Ageing Program 
to the local community continues to be 
a priority for the City of Nedlands and 
plays an important role in improving the 
quality of life of our residents through the 
different ages and stages of their lives.

We learned that our older 
people wanted more 
affordable activities, 
more variety, and more 
locations to participate 
in events and activities.

“
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Tresillian Arts Centre

Service Definition 2023-24:

Community art centre that brings people together and contributes to community wellbeing through 
participation in the arts.

Tresillian Arts Centre sub-services include:

	• Exhibitions  

	• Courses

	• Facility lease and hire.

	• 3,500 community members attended courses at Tresillian Arts Centre

	• Art History series presented by Emeritus Professor Richard Read covering Turner, 
Bonnard, three centuries of British and Italian art, Greek sculpture, contemporary 
sculpture and the reversed canvas

	• 2023-24 program included:

	• Emerge Youth Art Awards, July 2023

	• Every Moment Counts, Valerie Glover, August 2023

	• Tresillian Student & Tutor Exhibition, September 2023

	• Connected Spirits – Group Exhibition, October 2023

	• Little Bit Longway, Angela Davis, November 2023

	• Tresillian Studio Artists – New Works, February 2024

	• Inspire – International Women’s Day Exhibition, March 2024

	• Unlocked – Abstract Artists Group show, April 2024

	• People in Places – joint exhibition by Portrait artists Steph 
Shephard and Johnny Qazilbash, May 2024.

KEY POINTS
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Environmental Health

Service Definition 2023-24:

Protect the public from natural and built environmental factors that affect their health and well-
being. To foster public health by performing functions and undertaking tasks in line with statutory 
requirements and City strategic directions.

Environmental Health  
sub-services include:

	• Food businesses

	• Public building

	• Event management

	• Personal appearance establishments

	• Trading in public places

	• Public health planning

	• Mosquito and rodent control

	• Noise assessment and monitoring

	• Environmental protection

	• Recreational water quality

	• Aquatic facilities.

	• Developed and published City’s first Public Health Plan, aligned with the Public  
Health Act 2016

	• Conducted over 430 health inspections to ensure the safety of the community

	• Registered 22 new food businesses

	• 	Continued collaboration with Western Suburbs Organisation of Council Local 
Governments to manage mosquitos via seasonal surveillance and public messaging.

KEY POINTS
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The City successfully led the development of 
its first strategic document on public health – 
City of Nedlands Public Health Plan 2024-2028 
– which was adopted by Council in July 2023. 
The plan provides a strategic framework for the 
health and wellbeing of the local community. 
It is the City’s roadmap to continue to enable 
a healthy, active and safe community. 

The Public Health Plan aligns with the 
requirements of the Public Health Act 2016, 
including the objectives and policy priorities 
of the State Public Health Plan, and is 
integrated with the City of Nedlands’ Integrated 
Planning and Reporting Framework.

The plan identifies and addresses key 
health priorities within the community. 

PUBLIC HEALTH PLAN 2024-2028

This achievement involved thorough research, 
stakeholder engagement, collaboration with 
North Metropolitan Health Service, and public 
consultation. The plan established strategic 
objectives aimed at inspiring, empowering 
and enabling healthy living, prevention and 
protection for a healthier future, and building 
resilient community health in a changing climate.

The City of Nedlands is committed to ensuring 
that we achieve our aspiration of having a 
healthy community where people enjoying 
living through the different ages and life-
stages. The City of Nedlands Public Health 
Plan 2024-2028 documents our roles and 
responsibilities and sets goals to maintain 
community health now and into the future. 
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Ranger Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide information and advice on City of Nedlands Local Laws and other relevant legislation to 
residents and visitors and where appropriate take enforcement action with relation to these laws. 
Assist with the control and reporting of issues related to events, permits and provide support during 
emergencies. Maintain a presence by providing a uniformed patrol of the City’s parks, reserves, 
streets, and other facilities.

Ranger Services sub-services include:

	• Parking compliance

	• Animal management and control

	• Local Law (various) compliance

	• Emergency Management (prevention, preparedness, response and recovery).

	• Commenced the Aero Ranger License Plate Recognition (LPR) system for the 
enforcement of parking restrictions

	• Arranged the Lions Club to provide parking services in City reserves during the  
Royal Show, and implemented parking restrictions to reduce impact on residents

	• MOU signed with the City of Stirling allowing temporary accommodation of animals,  
at their Balcatta Animal Care Facility, in emergencies

	• Donated $1,000 to the Cat Haven and Shenton Park Dog Refuge, to support their work 
rehoming cats and dogs

	• Worked collaboratively with Australia Post to educate their delivery staff about reporting, 
the investigation process and tips for preventing dog attacks.

KEY POINTS
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Community Scorecard and 
Council Plan Actions

Community Scorecard: Service Performance Measures 2023

Council Plan Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25

Place to live
Youth services and facilities
Family and children services
Seniors’ services and facilities
Disability access and inclusion
Respect for First Nations culture
Multiculturalism / cultural diversity
Volunteer recognition and support
Health and community services
Sport and recreation
Festivals, events, art and culture
Safety and crime prevention
Lighting of streets and public places
Animal management

85
50
59
61
58
55
55
58
65
65
57
60
58
61

People

Target Zone.
Shading shows industry 
average to industry high 
from the MARKYT® 
Community Scorecard.

For further information, 
visit catalyse.com.au

City of Nedlands 
2023 performance score

City of Nedlands 
2016 performance score

No change in performance 
from 2016 to 2023 

Legend

Status Council Plan Actions

Completed

On Track

In Progress

Not Started

Continue or start in 2024-25
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No. People - Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25** Status 
23-24

Plans 
24-25

1.1.1
Develop a Public Art Strategy to articulate the direction for public 
art in the local area.

1.1.2

Complete a review of the City’s Events Program to deliver 
recommendations to activate the foreshore and local parks 
with a range of family friendly, inclusive activities and events. 
Community suggestions for consideration include activities that 
celebrate local history and cultural diversity (i.e. First Nations, 
Chinese New Year, Eid and Diwali), music and wine festivals, 
markets, food trucks, outdoor films and sculpture trails.

1.2.1
Develop a Reflect: Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), the first 
of four plans in Reconciliation Australia’s RAP Framework. 

1.3.1
Update the Local Heritage Survey and list of places the City 
deems are, or may become, of heritage significance.

1.3.3

Investigate and cost options for a Heritage Circuit with 
informative signage and plaques to raise awareness of local 
history and heritage. Consider opportunities to collaborate with 
neighbouring councils.

1.3.4
Advocate for heritage and activation works to be completed at the 
Sunset Precinct, Jutland Parade.

2.1.1
Develop a Local Public Health Plan in accordance with statutory 
requirements in the Public Health Act 2016. 

2.2.1 Finalise the Strategic Active Sports Facilities Plan.

2.2.3
Support club plans to upgrade existing sporting facilities to 
provide appropriate change room facilities for all genders.

2.2.4
Support the Claremont Junior Football Club to apply for State 
Government funding to upgrade reserve floodlighting at College 
Park to cater for growing demand for Girls AFL games.

2.2.5
Finalise options to upgrade reserve floodlighting at David 
Cruickshank Reserve.

2.2.6
Collaborate with the State Government and neighbouring 
councils to investigate suitable sites in Mt Claremont for 
mountain bike trails.

2.3.1
Advertise volunteer opportunities across a broader range of 
communication channels and platforms to attract more volunteers 
of all ages.
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2.3.2
Provide an annual volunteer appreciation celebration to recognise 
and thank current volunteers.

2.4.2 Review locations where dogs are permitted to be off leash.

2.4.3
Review and improve the process for raising and addressing animal 
complaints, mediating disputes, and enforcing regulations.

2.5.1
Provide a campaign to improve community awareness of safety 
and security initiatives.

2.5.2
Investigate potential savings and capacity to improve service 
levels of street lighting through the City’s ownership of streetlights.  

3.1.1

Map existing facilities, services, events and activities for children 
aged 0-14 years, identify local needs and gaps, and update the 
Council Plan at the next review with agreed recommendations. 
When completing this review, include a review of College Park 
Family Centre to understand current and future needs among 
users of this facility.

3.2.1

Map existing facilities, services, events, activities and volunteer 
opportunities for young people aged 15-24 years, identify local 
needs and gaps, and update the Council Plan at the next review 
with agreed recommendations. When completing this review, 
consider access to mental health services, and investigate 
demand for a Youth Centre, new or upgraded skate parks, bike 
and pump tracks, and playground equipment for teenagers.

3.3.1

Map existing facilities, services, events, activities and volunteer 
opportunities for seniors, identify local needs and gaps, 
and update the Council Plan at the next review with agreed 
recommendations. When completing this review, consider access 
to aged care accommodation, home support services, community 
transport, recreation and wellbeing services and facilities, and life-
long learning opportunities.

3.3.2
Extend the Positive Ageing Program to deliver more activities 
across the City of Nedlands.

3.4.1 Review and update the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.

3.4.2

Identify opportunities to improve universal access to Council 
facilities and reserves (i.e. self-opening doors, ramps, sealing 
footpaths and accessways, parking, beach, and river access etc) 
and include specific actions when reviewing the Disability Access 
and Inclusion Plan and Capital Works Program.
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Planet
We live sustainably within the natural 
environment, clean and green, with a 
healthy, growing urban forest.

4. Healthy and sustainable ecosystems

4.1 Conserve, restore and enhance local biodiversity and natural assets, including the river foreshore,  
coastline and remnant bushland.

4.2 Grow the urban forest.

5. Climate resilience

5.1 Encourage the adoption of sustainable practices to work towards zero waste and being carbon neutral.

5.2 Strengthen adaptive capacity to climate-related hazards and natural disasters.

Outcomes and Objectives

	• Environmental conservation

	• Sustainability

	• Parks services

	• Arboriculture

	• Waste services.

Services
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Services: Definition and Key Points 2023-24

Environmental Conservation

Service Definition 2023-24:

Conserve the natural environment and protect and enhance biodiversity within the City.

Environmental Conservation sub-services include:

	• Bushland management

	• Volunteer programs

	• Community engagement and events

	• Bush fire risk management

	• Feral animal management

	• Water conservation

	• Groundwater monitoring.
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What was once a patch of reticulated lawn is 
now a flourishing extension of coastal bushland, 
thanks to the final stage of the Swanbourne 
Oval Greenway project — completed in June 
2024 through a strong partnership between 
the City of Nedlands, the Swanbourne Coastal 
Alliance, and the Melon Hill Bushland Group.

The transformation began with the successful 
rehabilitation of the Swanbourne Reserve 
contaminated site in late 2023. Building on 
that momentum, the City and its partners set 
out to restore and reimagine the surrounding 
landscape. Invasive weeds were carefully 
removed, certified mulch was laid to protect and 
nourish the soil, and in June, 2,500 water-wise 
native shrubs and ground covers were planted 
— all species naturally occurring in the area.

This work has added approximately 0.5 hectares 
of new bushland to Allen Park, creating a more 
connected and resilient habitat for local fauna. 

SWANBOURNE OVAL GREENWAY

This work has added approximately 0.5 hectares 
of new bushland to Allen Park, creating a more 
connected and resilient habitat for local fauna.

“

It also marks a shift in how the City manages 
green spaces, with a focus on sustainability, 
biodiversity, and climate resilience.

Jointly funded by the City and the Western 
Australian Planning Commission’s Coastwest 
Grants Program, the Swanbourne Oval 
Greenway is more than just a landscaping 
project. It’s a long-term investment in the 
health of our environment — reducing 
groundwater use, improving ecological 
connectivity, and helping the City 
absorb greenhouse gas emissions.

The project reflects the City’s ongoing 
commitment to working with the 
community to protect and enhance our 
natural spaces for generations to come.
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Sustainability

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provides a future planning and growth focus driving research and creating the vision and  
plans for a liveable, prosperous, and sustainable City, with a primary focus on sustainability  
and conservation.

Sustainability sub-services include:

	• Sustainable living programs

	• Community sustainability promotion

	• Energy and greenhouse management.

	• Electric Vehicle charging stations installed at Council Administration 
Building, Nedlands Library and Mt Claremont Community Centre.

KEY POINTS
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Parks Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Ensure the responsible provision, use and protection of the City of Nedlands formalised parks, 
gardens, reserves and groundwater resources through sustainable practices that provide and maintain 
healthy, aesthetically pleasing, and useable parks, gardens and reserves in line with community needs, 
standards and available financial resources.

Parks Services sub-services include:

	• Turf services

	• Landscape services

	• Irrigation services.

	• 211.17Ha – recreation

	• 31.72Ha – natural areas

	• 38 playgrounds

	• Refurbished 14 garden beds at the Peace Memorial Rose Gardens

	• Managed the infestation of Chill-Thrip and the Polyphagous Shot-Hole Borer in line 
with requirements from the DPIRD

	• Remained within the regulatory groundwater allocation

	• Established a Waterwise Gold Working Group, to pursue Waterwise Gold status. 

KEY POINTS
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Arboriculture

Service Definition 2023-24:

Ensure the responsible provision and protection of the City of Nedlands tree assets through 
conservation and sustainable practices that provide and maintain healthy, aesthetically pleasing, and 
safe trees within streetscapes, parks, gardens, and reserves in line with community standards and 
available financial resources.

Arboriculture sub-services include:

	• Tree maintenance services

	• Tree planting services.

	• 	24,040 urban trees

	• Planted 536 street trees and 35 park trees.

KEY POINTS
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Waste Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Meet regulatory responsibilities to manage the collection of all residential waste volumes in a way 
that delivers positive outcomes environmentally, economically, and socially for the City of Nedlands. 
Offer a commercial waste management program that supports business, rate payer needs and delivers 
positive outcomes environmentally, economically, and socially for the City. Deliver to the community 
every day a clean and tidy City by utilising contemporary technologies to achieve the desired 
outcomes whilst allowing City businesses to operate unhindered by these activities. Proactively 
remove graffiti from public realm assets across the city.

Waste Services sub-services include:

	• Residential and commercial waste collection

	• Public bin management

	• Waste education

	• Graffiti removal.

	• City among the top five local governments, with 63% of waste diverted from 
landfill across all City waste streams 

	• Collected a total of 11,117 tonnes of residential waste, including bulk waste

	• Collected and recovered 2705 tonnes of recyclable materials 

	• Collected 4,725 tonnes of FOGO (Food Organics and Garden Organics) and 
processed it into Australian Standard AS4736 compost/soil conditioning products, 
supporting the circular economy

	• Provided over 1 million dog waste bags at city parks and reserves

	• Provided green waste bags, worm farms, compost bins, and bokashi buckets at 
discounted rates 

	• 1,278 residents utilised the JFR transfer station (Brockway Road, Shenton Park) 
community recycling and waste treatment at no charge

	• Delivered waste education programs, including Clean Up events to schools 

	• 	Maintained a 48-hour graffiti removal service for public spaces and areas visible 
from public spaces.

KEY POINTS
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Community Scorecard and 
Council Plan Actions

Community Scorecard: Service Performance Measures 2023

Council Plan Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25

Status Council Plan Actions

Completed

On Track

In Progress

Not Started

Continue or start in 2024-25

Sustainable practices / climate change
Conservation and environment
River foreshore management
Beach / coastal management
Waste management
Noise, pests, food inspections, etc
Natural disaster management

54
56
61
63
63
60
52

Planet

Target Zone.
Shading shows industry 
average to industry high 
from the MARKYT® 
Community Scorecard.

For further information, 
visit catalyse.com.au

City of Nedlands 
2023 performance score

City of Nedlands 
2016 performance score

No change in performance 
from 2016 to 2023 

Legend

47 City of Nedlands  |  Annual Report 2023-24BACK TO CONTENTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 55



No. Planet - Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25* Status 
23-24

Plans 
24-25

4.1.1
Prepare a Coastal Hazard Risk Management and Adaption Plan 
for the river foreshore and coastline.

4.1.2 Review and update the City Greenway Policy.

4.2.1

Review and update the Urban Forest Strategy (2024-34). This 
plan will include a major audit of trees on City managed lands 
(parks, verges, etc), the establishment of a tree asset register that 
is maintained regularly, and development of a plant pathogen 
management plan.  When developing this plan, the City will 
set realistic canopy targets and develop a costed Tree Planting 
Program, with consideration for financial sustainability and whole-
of-life costings.

4.2.2 Implement the Tree Planting Program.

5.1.1

Prepare a Sustainability Strategy to guide the City’s adoption 
of sustainable practices, improve community awareness and 
adoption of sustainable practices, and report on progress against 
key performance indicators via a Sustainability Dashboard Report.

5.1.2
Collaborate with key stakeholders to develop an Electric Vehicle 
Charging Network Plan.

5.1.3
Improve water management practices to achieve Gold Waterwise 
Status by 2025/26.

5.1.4
Assess and implement a new contract for improved bulk waste 
collection services.

5.2.1

Develop a Stormwater Management Plan. This plan will determine 
drainage infrastructure requirements to minimise the risk of 
flooding, maximise stormwater infiltration at source, minimise 
pollutant discharge to the Swan River and recharge the aquifer. 

5.2.2
Deliver drainage remediation as planned in the Capital Works 
Program and keep the community informed about progress.
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Place
We are growing and developing responsibly to 
enhance our lifestyle, unique heritage, character, 
and beautiful parks and gardens.

6. Sustainable population growth with responsible urban planning

6.1 Responsible planning and development to enhance liveability and the area’s unique character. 

7. Attractive and welcoming places

7.1 Provide quality community buildings, halls and toilets.

7.2 Enhance playgrounds, parks and reserves.

7.3 Provide beautiful, well-maintained streetscapes.

8. A city that is easy to get around safely and sustainably

8.1 Encourage more people to walk, ride or use other forms of active transport.

8.2 Encourage greater use of public and shared transport.

8.3 Deliver an efficient, safe and sustainable road network.

8.4 Effectively manage parking supply and affordability.

Outcomes and Objectives
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	• Strategic Urban Planning

	• Statutory Urban Planning

	• Building Services

	• Transport and Development

	• Asset Management

	• City Projects and Programs

	• Civil Maintenance

	• Building Maintenance.

Services

Services: Definition and Key Points 2023-24

Strategic Urban Planning

Service Definition 2023-24:

Deliver holistic, integrated city-wide strategies, plans and policies, that set the direction for the 
sustainable growth of the City of Nedlands including land use, environmental sustainability, community 
infrastructure, and economic and cultural heritage outcomes. Ensure integration across all tiers of 
government and the private sector including management of government relations relating to the 
planning and development of the city.

	• Sustainable Development Local Planning Policy (LPP) adopted

	• Tree Retention Local Planning Policy developed and advertised

	• 	Public Open Space Strategy and Public Open Space Contributions LPP adopted

	• Endorsement of the Nedlands Stirling Highway Activity Corridor (NSHAC) Strategy 
and progression of Scheme Amendment 13

	• Revisions completed of the City’s ‘Removal of Occupancy Restrictions’ and ‘Exempt 
Development’ Local Planning Policies.

KEY POINTS

Strategic Urban Planning sub-services include:

	• Planning strategy and scheme

	• Urban planning policy

	• Precinct planning

	• Heritage planning.
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The City has made significant progress in 
delivering upon and aligning to the priorities 
outlined in the Council Plan, specifically 
in respect to responsible growth and the 
development and activation of the City’s  
town centres. 

Adoption of the Public Open Space Strategy and 
accompanying ‘Local Planning Policy 7.7 Public 
Open Space Contributions’ reinforces the City’s 
commitment to preservation and sustainable 
management of the City’s public realm. The 
Strategy and Policy provide the necessary 
framework and statutory mechanisms to 
ensure the City’s public open space assets are 
adequately preserved, managed and enjoyed 
by the community and future generations.

DEVELOPING PLANNING STRATEGIES AND POLICIES

The Strategy and Policy provide the necessary 
framework and statutory mechanisms to 
ensure the City’s public open space assets are 
adequately preserved, managed and enjoyed 
by the community and future generations.

“

Additionally, Council’s adoption of the 
Nedlands Stirling Highway Activity Corridor 
Strategy (NSHAC) and the progression 
of Local Scheme Amendment 13, again 
demonstrates the City’s alignment to 
upholding community priorities, providing 
further zoning and development guidance, 
and addressing the vision for Stirling 
Highway, built form and vehicle access.
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Statutory Urban Planning

Service Definition 2023-24:

Deliver assessment and compliance actions to ensure the City meets its land use planning and 
development control functions and obligations. Ensure land use planning outcomes are consistent 
with local and state planning policy and legislation and community expectation.

Statutory Urban Planning sub-services include:

	• Development assessment

	• Development compliance

	• Statutory policy formulation

	• Design Review Panel administration.

	• 	22 reviews conducted by the Development Review Panel.

KEY POINTS
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Building Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide quality, customer focussed advice and building approval and compliance services to the 
community including timely assessment and inputs into building permits and relevant applications. 
Undertake investigations and resolution of building compliance matters. Professionally represent 
the City of Nedlands on SAT as required. Undertake regular swimming pool safety inspections 
in line with statutory time frames. Provide sharing and provision of resource cover to other LGA 
building departments.

Building Services sub-services include:

	• Shared services with other local governments

	• Development compliance

	• Building application assessment

	• Swimming pool inspections.

	• 	99.7% of building applications were issued within statutory timeframes

	• 142 dwellings were approved, including 88 dwellings within infill areas

	• 345 building permits and 60 demolition permits granted

	• 100% of properties, due for a pool inspection, were inspected on time

	• Shared services collaboratively provided pool inspection programs for the 
Town of Claremont and Shire of Peppermint Grove visiting 441 properties

	• Shared services collaboratively provided building application assessment 
for neighbouring councils, assessing 204 building applications.

KEY POINTS
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Transport and Development

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide holistic, integrated plans for the public realm to guide improvements to City of Nedlands 
streets, places, and spaces. Design the City’s transport infrastructure to facilitate an integrated 
network that optimises transport movements and delivers function, safety, and access across the 
network. Review development and building applications and their impact on the City’s transport 
network.

Transport and Development sub-services include:

	• Technical review – planning and building applications

	• Traffic and transport planning

	• Traffic management plan review

	• Road safety.

	• Secured Federal Government funding for The Avenue Black Spot Project

	• 	Developed an Integrated Transport Strategy (ITS) that addresses transport 
challenges and provides a clear framework for the future planning and 
upgrade of the City’s transport system.

KEY POINTS
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Asset Management

Service Definition 2023-24:

Proactively manage City of Nedlands assets to maximise community value, service utility and ensure 
that remedial and maintenance interventions deliver best value outcomes to our community.

Asset Management sub-services include:

	• Asset management

	• Capital works project planning

	• Capital works project budgeting.

KEY POINTS

	• 155km – road network

	• 4,749 pits and 71.5km pipes – drainage

	• 13.5km – laneways

	• 34 – off-street carparks

	• 137.1 km – footpath network

	• 95 – buildings

	• Condition audit and stocktake – building asset class

	• Condition audit and stocktake – public open space asset class.
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City Projects and Programs

Service Definition 2023-24:

Manage the design, planning and delivery of all infrastructure projects within the annual Capital Works 
Program. Ensure stakeholder consultation is undertaken where required.

City Projects and Programs sub-services include:

	• Capital works planning

	• Capital works design

	• Capital works procurement

	• Capital works construction.

	• 	4 kilometres of road surface renewed and repaired

	• 	65 new crossovers installed

	• 	59 new drainage pits installed to address storm water runoff 

	• 550 drainage pits cleaned and serviced

	• 250 meters of footpath repaired

	• 1,000 meters of concrete kerbing repairs.

KEY POINTS
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Civil Maintenance

Service Definition 2023-24:

Maintenance of roads, right of ways, footpaths, parking signage, line marking and subsidiary street 
furniture to facilitate safe usage of the transport network by pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. 
Maintenance of the drainage network to ensure the efficient removal of stormwater across the City 
of Nedlands during normal rainfall events. Street lighting infrastructure is owned and maintained 
by both the City and Western Power to deliver a safe environment to night-time visitors to our city.

Civil Maintenance sub-services include:

	• Road network (including rights of way/laneways)

	• Path network

	• Drainage network 

	• Bus shelters

	• Parking signs and lines.

	• 	1,100m2 of Swanbourne Reserve remediated – removing medical and asbestos waste 
from the 1970s

	• 3,930m of new concrete kerbing installed

	• 240km2 of road swept

	• 35 drainage pits upgraded to increased capacity

	• 2,300 linear meters of crack sealing to improve our road networks.

KEY POINTS
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Building Maintenance

Service Definition 2023-24:

Maintaining the Building portfolio to support the delivery of a wide range of public services which fulfil 
the social, economic, and environmental needs of the community. Preventing further deterioration 
or failure that will not impact daily operations with planning work at predetermined intervals to meet 
Statuary, Health and Safety, and operational reliability. Provide quality customer focussed advice and 
service to Stakeholders and the Community.

Building Maintenance sub-services include:

	• Building security

	• Building maintenance

	• Building capital works projects.

	• New roof tiles and insulation to Point Resolution Child Care centre

	• Refurbishment of Depot male toilets and locker room

	• Refurbishment of Council Chamber

	• Upgrades to Tresillian Arts Centre including new air conditioners to leased rooms, 
activity room upgrades, and refurbishment of front timber security doors

	• Resurfacing and recoat of Depot veranda.

KEY POINTS
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Community Scorecard and 
Council Plan Actions

Community Scorecard: Service Performance Measures 2023

Council Plan Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25

Status Council Plan Actions

Completed

On Track

In Progress

Not Started

Continue or start in 2024-25

Responsible growth and development
Planning and building approvals
Housing
Local history and heritage
Community buildings, halls, toilets
Playgrounds, parks and reserves
Streetscapes, trees and verges
Footpaths, trails and cycleways
Local roads
Parking management
Public transport

35
32
55
55
56
68
59
58
62
53
64

Place

Target Zone.
Shading shows industry 
average to industry high 
from the MARKYT® 
Community Scorecard.

For further information, 
visit catalyse.com.au

City of Nedlands 
2023 performance score

City of Nedlands 
2016 performance score

No change in performance 
from 2016 to 2023 

Legend
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No. Place - Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25* Status 
23-24

Plans 
24-25

6.1.1

Review the Local Planning Framework in collaboration with the 
community and State Government to agree on an approach 
for responsible and sustainable development that meets local 
community needs. When reviewing the framework consider 
Nedlands town centre, local community hubs, housing needs, 
appropriate sites for high-density dwellings, and green spaces.

6.1.2
Progress Scheme Amendment 13 - Stirling Highway and related 
policies to introduce limits on building heights.

6.1.3
Develop a Planning Policy to mandate sustainable practices in 
new builds.

6.1.4
Prepare the Mt Claremont Masterplan to resolve land use within 
and surrounding the Subiaco Wastewater Treatment Plant odour 
buffer and Graylands Hospital.

6.1.5
Prepare an Integrated Transport Strategy, in consultation with 
the community and neighbouring councils to meet needs in 
relation to paths, cycleways, roads, parking, and public transport.

6.1.6
Complete a customer experience review to improve the planning 
and building approval process through to building completion, for 
all stakeholders.

7.1.1

Develop a Land Asset Optimisation Strategy to identify 
opportunities to improve, rationalise or share community assets 
to ensure sustainable and optimal use of Council assets and 
resources.

7.1.2
Develop a business case for the future operations of the 
buildings in the Lawler Park precinct with consideration for sport, 
performing arts and culture, and community meeting space.

7.2.1
Implement the preferred developer contribution model (cash in-
lieu of land for public open spaces).

7.2.3
Develop Foreshore Masterplan to improve social, economic and 
environmental outcomes.

7.2.4 Upgrade the playground in front of the Shorehouse, Swanbourne.

7.2.5
Prepare a Concept Plan for the Loreto Primary School site with 
consideration for the community’s aspirations.

7.3.1
Install underground power in Hollywood East, Nedlands West and 
Nedlands North precincts.
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7.3.2 Develop a Waterwise Nature-strip Program.

7.3.3
Refer to the City’s Urban Forest Strategy for further actions related 
to street trees.

8.1.1
Advocate for an underpass, traffic trench or similar solution 
across Stirling Highway to improve connectivity and safety for 
pedestrians and cyclists.

8.1.2
Implement planned improvements to footpaths and cycleways as 
listed in the Capital Works Program.

8.2.1
Advocate for improvements in public transport services, and 
initiatives to increase commuter awareness and usage across the 
City of Nedlands.

8.3.1
Undertake a comprehensive traffic modelling study to be used 
proactively with future developments, including proposed 
developments at the Captain Stirling site.

8.3.2
Complete planned roadworks as described in the Capital Works 
Program.

8.3.3
Progress plans and seek funding to upgrade lane ways 
systematically across the City of Nedlands.

8.4.1
Develop a Parking Strategy to manage growing demand and traffic 
congestion.
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Prosperity
We are a smart, connected community with 
access to quality life-long learning opportunities 
and vibrant town centres.

9. A vibrant local economy

9.1 Revitalise commercial areas to retain, support and attract businesses.

10. Active participation in education and life-long learning

10.1 Facilitate access to quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all.

Outcomes and Objectives

	• Library services

	• Strategic urban planning (see Place).

Services
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Services: Definition and Key Points 2023-24

Library Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide resources and activities to address information and learning needs of the community in the 
Nedlands and Mt Claremont libraries and through on-line access.

Library Services sub-services include:

	• Library services

	• Local studies.

Along with traditional library services, Nedlands and Mt Claremont libraries offer safe, multi-purpose 
spaces for a range of ongoing activities and events for all ages, including: 

	• Tech help sessions

	• Baby Rhyme Time (ages 0-2)

	• Music Time (ages 2-3) and Story Time (ages 3-5)

	• Book clubs and ‘Subjects of Note’ for adults

	• Language conversation groups

	• Author talks and events

	• Books on Wheels

	• Library bus

	• Justice of the Peace service.
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	• 	Over 6,500 community members attended 776 library hosted events

	• 320,487 library transactions (resource issues, renewals, and reservations)

	• 93,531 visits to the libraries

	• 837 new members registered for the Nedlands Library Service

	• On 1 July 2023 the Nedlands Library Service transitioned to a paperless loan 
system – all reservation notices, loan reminders, overdue notices and invoices 
are now delivered by email

	• Family history database searches increased by 3,984, showing an increased 
interest in in the City’s Local Studies service

	• Visits to the Nedlands and Mt Claremont libraries increased by 14,458

	• Public PC usage increased by 582 hours, across both libraries.

KEY POINTS

In May 2024, the City received a donated public 
artwork for permanent installation at the Nedlands 
Library. Beyond Doorways by artist Erica Zaino is 
the 20th artwork in the city’s Public Art Collection. 
The mirrored panels with yellow doorways are 
a tribute to the learning possibilities offered 
by libraries. The artist says of the work: 

“Within these doors lie the realms of reason and 
instinct, where minds journey through corridors of 
choices. Explore, discover, and embrace the wisdom 
that awaits within the sanctuary of knowledge.”

BEYOND DOORWAYS
A tribute to learning at Nedlands Library
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Community Scorecard and 
Council Plan Actions

Community Scorecard: Service Performance Measures 2023

Council Plan Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25

Status Council Plan Actions

Completed

On Track

In Progress

Not Started

Continue or start in 2024-25

Place to visit
Place to own or operate a business
Economic development
Town centres / local shopping areas
Access to education / training
Library services

72
64
48
40
59
72

Prosperity

Target Zone.
Shading shows industry 
average to industry high 
from the MARKYT® 
Community Scorecard.

For further information, 
visit catalyse.com.au

City of Nedlands 
2023 performance score

City of Nedlands 
2016 performance score

No change in performance 
from 2016 to 2023 

Legend
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No. Prosperity - Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25* Status 
23-24

Plans 
24-25

9.1.1
Partner with the State Government and City of Perth to prepare  
a UWA-QEII Precinct Plan.

9.1.2 Develop a Place Vision for the Nedlands Town Centre.

10.1.1
Undertake a review of the City’s library services and propose a 
costed improvement program to meet current and future needs. 
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Performance
We have collaborative leadership, working 
with the community and key stakeholders to 
strengthen overall quality of life.

11. Effective leadership and governance

11.1 Strengthen Council’s leadership and governance.

12. A happy, well-informed and engaged community

12.1 Effectively inform and engage the community about local services and events,  
key projects, consultation outcomes, Council decisions, and budget allocations.

Outcomes and Objectives

	• Governance and legal

	• Members of council

	• Strategic planning and projects

	• Corporate communications

	• Customer services

	• Human resources

	• Financial services

	• Land and property

	• Information and communication technology

	• OneCouncil project

	• Information and records management

	• Fleet management.

Services
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Services: Definition and Key Points 2023-24

Governance and Legal

Service Definition 2023-24:

Establishes the framework of decision making, systems and processes that assist the organisation 
in enhancing its statutory compliance, legal and risk management responsibilities.

Governance and Legal sub-services include:

	• Governance 

	• Risk management

	• Legal services.

Members of Council

Service Definition 2023-24:

Coordinates communication and information between Councillors and the Administration. 
Primarily responsible for decision-making across the City of Nedlands.

Members of Council sub-services include:

	• Council members support

	• Council meeting support 

	• Local government elections.
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Strategic Planning and Projects

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provides an integrated planning and reporting approach in accordance with s5.56 of the Local 
Government Act 1995 and subsequent Regulations. Includes: Strategic Community Plan (SCP), 
Corporate Business (CBP) Plan, Long Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Strategy and Plans, 
Workforce Plan, Service Plans, Corporate Reporting. Undertakes Business Improvement projects 
as required.

Strategic Planning and Projects sub-services include:

	• Corporate planning 

	• Corporate reporting

	• Business improvement.

Corporate Communications

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide clear, consistent and proactive messages aligned to the City’s broader strategic direction 
to internal and external stakeholders applying traditional and contemporary media approaches.

Corporate Communications sub-services include:

	• Community engagement 

	• Internal communications

	• External communications

	• Digital channels management

	• Media.

	• The City undertook a major review of its SCP and CBP and the Council adopted 
“Our Plan for the Future – City of Nedlands Council Plan 2023-34” on November 
28, 2023.

KEY POINTS
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Customer Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide a high level of customer service to facilitate highly effective relationships with the City of 
Nedlands customers and stakeholders. Manage and promote the Customer Experience and Stakeholder 
Engagement Frameworks and provide support and advice to ensure a consistent and high standard of 
customer service and stakeholder engagement across the organisation. Monitor customer satisfaction 
and respond proactively to identified trends.

Human Resources

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provide workforce supply, employee relations, employee management, workforce planning and 
workplace safety and health initiatives – to ensure effective service-based allocation of human 
resources to meet service and project needs, and a safe working environment to meet legislative 
obligations and deliver against the City of Nedlands Strategic Community Plan. Enable the effective 
management of the Employee Lifecycle in a safe work environment.

Human Resources sub-services include:

	• Recruitment

	• Employee relations

	• Workplace Health and Safety.
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Financial Services

Service Definition 2023-24:

Delivers accurate and timely transactional finance services using clearly articulated, visible financial 
processes that enable/support the City of Nedlands service units to deliver value for money outcomes 
to our community. Ensures that the City is financially accountable to its community whilst meeting all 
statutory financial obligations.

Financial Services sub-services include:

	• Accounting services 

	• Rates and other revenue

	• Procurement

	• Payroll

	• 	Internal audit.

Land and Property

Service Definition 2023-24:

Coordinate the strategic management of the City of Nedlands property portfolio embracing acquisition, 
commercial leasing, and disposal.

Land and Property sub-services include:

	• Land asset optimisation 

	• Land asset investment

	• Property management.

	• 	60 property agreements were managed by the City including:

	• 13 commercial

	• 5 residential

	• 12 management licences

	• 30 community community/sporting group leases.

KEY POINTS
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Information and Communication Technology

Service Definition 2023-24:

Provides end-to-end information, communication and technological solutions to internal and external 
customers utilising City of Nedlands services. Ensure the delivery of the technology systems that 
enable our organisation in delivering excellence customer focussed service. Ensures the security and 
protection of Sensitive and Private Information from unauthorised access, and/or complete data loss.

Information and Communication Technology sub-services include:

	• ICT services

	• ICT support.

OneCouncil Project

Service Definition 2023-24:

Capital project and resources to facilitate the transition to, and enablement of, the purchased 
OneCouncil suite from TechnologyOne.

OneCouncil Project sub-services include:

	• OneCouncil project

	• OneCouncil system support.

	• 2300+ Information Technology support requests serviced.

KEY POINTS
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Information and Records Management

Service Definition 2023-24:

Coordinate the City of Nedlands records and information management activities including: 

	• Education and training for staff, elected members, and contractors regarding their obligations under 
record keeping, privacy and Freedom of Information 

	• Coordinate Freedom of Information (FOI) requests.

Information and Records Management sub-services include:

	• Information management

	• Records management 

	• Freedom of Information

	• Information and records support

	• Business continuity.

	• Record management classification converted into an automated process

	• 300,000 circa - records classified 

	• 20,000 records disposed of via retention process.

KEY POINTS
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Fleet Management

Service Definition 2023-24:

Ensure that the City of Nedlands achieves best value and demonstrates social, economic, and 
environmental sustainability in the way in which it manages its fleet, mobile plant, and heavy plant 
equipment. Operate the depot workshop and responsibly manage stores and materials.

Fleet Management sub-services include:

	• Fleet, plant and equipment management

	• Fuel management

	• Minor fabrication.

	• Fleet includes: 11 trucks, 16 utilities, 19 cars, 3 tractors, 2 out-front mowers, 1 elevated 
work platform, 1 bus, 1 skid steer load, 1 x 8 tonne front end loader, 3 cricket wicket 
rollers, various light plants

	• Installed 4 electric vehicle chargers - three for public use, at the Administration 
Centre, Nedlands Library and Mt Claremont Library, and one at the works depot

	• City started its transition to hybrid electric and battery electric vehicle, comprising,  
4 hybrids and 1 battery electric.

KEY POINTS
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Community Scorecard and 
Council Plan Actions

Community Scorecard: Service Performance Measures 2023

Council Plan Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25

Status Council Plan Actions

Completed

On Track

In Progress

Not Started

Continue or start in 2024-25

Council’s leadership
Governing organisation
Advocacy and lobbying
Consultation
Communication
Customer service
Embracing change, innovation & technology
Value for money from rates

37
51
36
39
44
55
44
46

Performance

Target Zone.
Shading shows industry 
average to industry high 
from the MARKYT® 
Community Scorecard.

For further information, 
visit catalyse.com.au

City of Nedlands 
2023 performance score

City of Nedlands 
2016 performance score

No change in performance 
from 2016 to 2023 

Legend
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No. Performance - Actions: Status 2023-24 and Plans 2024-25* Status 
23-24

Plans 
24-25

11.1.1
Support councillors to complete mandatory councillor training (i.e. 
Councillor Member Essentials Training modules with WALGA).

11.1.2
Provide standardised Council meeting procedures, in accordance with 
the Local Government Reform process.

11.1.3

Review the Council Plan annually. In accordance with statutory 
requirements, review Corporate Business Plan elements annually, 
and complete a minor desktop review of Strategic Community Plan 
elements once every two years, and a major review once every four 
years. The next major review is due in 2027/28.

11.1.4 Update the Risk Management Framework to identify and mitigate risks. 

11.1.5
Develop an Advocacy Plan for Council to proactively partner with 
the State Government and other key stakeholders on issues of local 
significance.

11.1.6
Review and update the Workforce Plan to ensure the City is sufficiently 
resourced to deliver services and projects to meet community needs.

11.1.7 Undertake the Employee Culture Survey.

11.1.8

Implement the OneCouncil Platform to centralise and integrate digital 
systems to improve business efficiencies, customer experiences, 
and timeliness of communication (i.e. providing improved access to 
time-sensitive, critical information relating to new developments).

11.1.9
Develop a Strategic Project Development policy to guide the project 
inception and due diligence of City of Nedlands Strategic Projects.

12.1.1

Develop a Community Engagement Charter in accordance with 
the Local Government Reform and as part of an overall Community 
Engagement Framework. The charter must set out how the City 
will engage with ratepayers and the community about the local 
government’s proposed policies, initiatives, and projects.

12.1.2

Develop a Communications Agreement, in accordance with the Local 
Government Reform. This agreement must address how council 
members may seek information and assistance from administration in 
carrying out their role.
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12.1.3

Prepare a Communications Plan, as part of an overall Community 
Engagement Framework, to raise awareness of the City’s projects, 
facilities, services, events, and other issues of importance, with 
consideration for how to target communications to reach and engage 
different community groups.

12.2.1
Complete an independent community survey to benchmark 
service levels and map community priorities, in accordance with 
best practice and the proposed Local Government Reform.

12.2.2
Update the Service Plan for each team, on an annual basis, to 
continuously review and enhance customer service levels.

12.2.3
Develop a Digital Transformation Strategy to improve delivery of 
City services on a device, time, and place of choice for customers.
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Statutory Reporting 
The following section details the City of Nedlands reporting of statutory compliance requirements 
for the 2023-24 reporting period.

Employee remuneration 

There were 18 employees entitled to an annual cash salary of $130,000 or more in 2023-24.  
A summary is provided below:

CEO Remuneration 

Across 2023-24 there were two CEOs, and one Acting CEO, with remuneration as follows: 

Annual cash salary Number of employees

$130,000 - $139,999 1

$140,000 - $149,999 4

$150,000 - $159,999 3

$160,000 - $169,999 4

$170,000 - $179,999 3

$180,000 - $189,999 0

$190,000 - $199,999 0

$200,000 - $209,999 0

$210,000 - $219,999 1

$220,000 - $229,999 0

$230,000 - $240,000 2

$240,000 - $250,000 0

Period CEO Remuneration*

1 July 2023 – 1 December 2023 $127,208

6 November 2023 – 12 May 2024 $155,342

13 May 2024 – 30 June 2024 $40,878

*As per the Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 section 4(1) remuneration 
includes salary, allowances, fees, emoluments and benefits 
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Council Member Fees, Expenses and Allowances 

In accordance with Regulation 19BD of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports annually on fees, expenses, and allowances paid to council members and the 
mayor. This information is also published on the City of Nedlands website, ensuring transparency 
and public accessibility. 

Details for the 2023–24 financial year are presented in the table below. 

Elected Member
Mayoral 
Allowance

Deputy Mayor 
Allowance

Elected 
Members 
Allowance

ICT 
Allowance

Travel and 
Accommodation 
Allowance

Expenses 
that must be 
reimbursed*

Expenses 
that may be 
reimbursed

Conference Training Total

Fiona Argyle $65,915.00 - $32,410.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - $4,987.00 $106,912.00

Leo McManus   $4,983.99 $22,155.83 $3,500.00 $91.67 - - - - $30,731.49

Hengameh Amiry - - $24,170.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - - $27,770.00

Kerry Smyth - $11,030.14 $24,170.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - $25.00 - $2,787.00 $41,612.14

Fergus Bennett - - $27,770.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - $2,000.00 - - $29,770.00

Noel Youngman - - $24,170.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - - $27,770.00

Ben Hodsdon - - $24,170.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - - $27,770.00

Blane 
Brackenridge - - $24,170.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - - $27,770.00

Rebecca Coghlan - - $23,592.00 $3,500.00 $100.00 - - - $5,085.00 $32,277.00

Andrew Mangano - - $7,406.91 - $30.67 - $300.00 - - $7,737.58

Rajah Senathirajah - - $7,406.91 - $30.67 - - - - $7,437.58

Olinka Combes - - $7,406.91 - $30.67 - - - - $7,437.58

Register of fees, expenses and allowances 
paid to elected members 2023-24 

Local Government Act 1995 s 5.96A, Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 r 29C(f ). 
This register is updated to the City of Nedlands Website no later than 14 July of each financial year, 
pursuant to Local Government Act 1995, S5.96A and Regs 29C (2)(f )& (6) of the Local Government 
(Administration) Regulations 1996. The following register includes any fees, expenses or allowances paid 
to each council member during a financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024.

79 City of Nedlands  |  Annual Report 2023-24BACK TO CONTENTS

Annual General Meeting of Electors | Agenda | 10 December 2025

Attachment 4.1.1 Annual Report 2023-24 Page 87



Council Member Meeting Attendance

In accordance with Regulation 19B (2)(f ) of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports annually on the number of council and committee meetings attended by each council 
member during the financial year.
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Local Government Standards Panel Payments

In accordance with Regulation 19B(2)(c) of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports any remuneration and allowances paid under Schedule 5.1, clause 9 during the 
financial year. 

These payments relate to matters considered by the Local Government Standards Panel, which 
is responsible for determining allegations of minor breaches of the Rules of Conduct by council 
members. The Panel aims to uphold high standards of behaviour and deter conduct that disrupts  
the effective functioning of local government.

The amount ordered by the Local Government Standards Panel was $0.

Council Member Complaints 

In accordance with Section 5.53(2)(hb) of the Local Government Act 1995 and Regulation 19B(2)(d) 
of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, the City provides details of complaints 
recorded in the register during the financial year, including:

	• Number of complaints received,

	• How each complaint was dealt with, and

	• Any payments ordered to be made to the local government by individuals 
subject to complaints under sections 5.107(1), 5.109(1), or 5.114(1).

There were two complaints for the purpose of this Annual Report:

Complaint 
Number

Name of 
Councillor

Name of  
complainant

Description of the Minor 
Breach that the Standards 
Panel finds has occurred

Details of the 
action taken 
under s.5.110(6)

Date of 
complaint

Date of 
Panel 
Decision

20230228
Cr Andrew 
Mangano

Ms Nicole Ceric

A breach of regulation 20 of the 
Local Government (Model Code 
of Conduct) Regulations 2021 
and regulation 34D of the Local 
Government (Administration) 
Regulations 1996 was found to 
have occurred.

Public apology.
31 Mar  
2023

29 Sep 2023

20230248
Cr Andrew 
Mangano

Mr Paul McGarry

A breach of regulation 22 of the 
Local Government (Model Code 
of Conduct) Regulations 2021 was 
found to have occurred.

Public apology. 
Undertake the 
training course for 
Elected Members 
Conflicts of Interests.

29 May 
2023

29 Sep 2023
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Modifications to Strategic Community Plan and Corporate Business Plan

The City of Nedlands undertook a major review of its Strategic Community Plan (SCP) and 
Corporate Business Plan (CBP) from December 2022 to November 2023. This involved extensive 
community and stakeholder engagement and resulted in Council adopting “Our Plan for the Future 
– City of Nedlands Council Plan 2023-34” (Council Plan) on the 28th of November 2023.

An overview of the Council Plan and key actions is provided in earlier sections of the Annual 
Report, ‘Our Council Plan for the Future’ and ‘Delivering to Our Community’.

Disability Access and Inclusion

In accordance with Section 29(2) of the Disability Services Act 1993 and Section 5.53(2)(ha) of the 
Local Government Act 1995, the City of Nedlands reports annually on the implementation of its 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP). Further information on the City’s DAIP is included in 
the section ‘Delivering to Our Community’ under the strategic pillar ‘People’.

Trading Undertakings

In accordance with Regulation 19BB of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports on any trading undertakings conducted during the financial year.

No trading undertakings were undertaken by the City of Nedlands in 2023-24.

Land Transactions

In accordance with Regulation 19BC of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports on any major land transactions undertaken during the financial year.

No land transactions were undertaken by the City of Nedlands 2023-24.

Capital Grants, Subsidies and Contributions

In accordance with Regulation 19BE of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, 
the City reports on all capital grants, subsidies, and contributions received for the replacement or 
renewal of assets.

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions are reported in the Financial Statements under the 
‘Revenue and Expenses Note’ and include the total amounts received during:

	• The 2023–24 financial year, and

	• The two preceding financial years.
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National Competition Policy and  
Competitive Neutrality
In accordance with the Competition Principles Agreement, the City of Nedlands is committed  
to ensuring that its business activities operate in a transparent and fair manner, without enjoying 
any net competitive advantage due to public ownership.

During the 2023–24 financial year, the City reviewed its operations to assess compliance  
with competitive neutrality principles.

No complaints were received regarding non-compliance.

 
Record-Keeping Statement and Plan

Record-Keeping Statement

The City of Nedlands is committed to the reliable and systematic management of government 
records, in accordance with legislative requirements and best practice standards.

Record-Keeping Plan

In accordance with the State Records Act 2000 and the City’s approved Recordkeeping Plan 
(RKP2023), endorsed on 7 September 2023, the City of Nedlands is committed to maintaining 
effective and compliant recordkeeping practices.

The current Recordkeeping Plan is scheduled for review within five years and must be submitted 
to the State Records Office by 29 August 2028.

As required under SRC Standard 2, Principle 6, the following aspects of recordkeeping were 
addressed during the 2023–24 financial year:

	• Principle 1: Proper and Adequate Records

	• Principle 2: Policies and Procedures

	• Principle 3: Language Control

	• Principle 4: Preservation

	• Principle 5: Retention and Disposal

	• Principle 6: Compliance

	• SRC Standard 6: Outsourced Functions.

These actions support the City’s commitment to responsible information management and 
compliance with the State Records Commission’s standards.
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Information Management Systems

The City continues to review its business processes and various information systems to enhance the 
capture of business intelligence across the organisation.

Microsoft SharePoint 365 is currently utilised as the City’s primary Records Management System. 
In addition, the City uses Enterprise Content Management (ECM), the recordkeeping module within 
the new financial system, TechOne, to manage records generated within the TechOne environment.

Training and Awareness

Face-to-face recordkeeping inductions are conducted for all new employees upon  
commencement. These sessions cover their recordkeeping responsibilities and include  
desktop training on SharePoint 365.

Additionally, the City’s Information Management team coordinates annual refresher training  
sessions, including:

	• Copyright training delivered by the Copyright Agency, and

	• Freedom of Information briefings facilitated by the Office of the Information Commissioner.

Freedom of Information
In accordance with Sections 96 and 97 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992, the City of Nedlands 
publishes an annual Information Statement. This statement outlines:

	• The process for applying for access to documents under the Act, and 

	• The types of information the City makes available outside the formal FOI process.

The Information Statement is available on the City’s website and at the City’s administration offices.

Across 2023-24 the City received 15 valid Freedom of Information applications:

	• 0 internally reviewed

	• 0 externally reviewed

	• 0 State consultation

	• 7 Police CCTV requests

	• 0 transferred to another agency

	• 1 transferred from another agency

	• 7 withdrawn by the applicant.
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Financials
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Understanding the Financial Statements

A guide to some of the terminology contained in the statutory financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report

The auditor ’s opinion is a statement issued by the Office of Auditor General (OAG) that expresses the 
results of their examination of the City of Nedland’s financial statements, which provides information 
regarding their authenticity and reliability. There are two main types of audit opinions:

	• Unmodified Opinion: This opinion indicates that the financial statements are presented fairly,  
in all material respects, and comply with the applicable accounting standards

	• Modified Opinion: This opinion is issued when there are reservations about the financial 
statements, which may include a departure from generally accepted accounting standards or a 
scope limitation

In 2022/23 the City received a Disclaimer of Opinion (the most serious type of modified opinion) due 
to the OAG not being able to obtain sufficient levels of information during the audit. In 2023/24 the 
City received a Qualified Opinion (the least serious type of modified opinion) due to the compromised 
comparability of the current year’s figures and corresponding figures from the prior year. Full details 
of the qualified opinion can be found on page 48 of the Financial Report. The Introductory Statement 
by the Commissioner (at the beginning of this Annual Report) contains further insight to the City’s 
preparation of its financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income by Nature or Type
(Operating Statement/Statement of Profit and Loss)

The ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’ summarises the City of Nedlands’ revenue and expenses 
for the year and identifies the profit or loss. It shows the operating revenue and expenditure items 
grouped by nature and type classification. The net result is calculated as Total Revenue less Total 
Expenditure. A positive result does not necessarily mean that there are extra funds available for 
spending, nor does a negative result mean that there are insufficient funds, providing the shortfall is 
made up from other sources, such as existing cash reserves or borrowings.

Statement of Financial Position
(Balance Sheet)

The ‘Statement of Financial Position’ provides a snapshot of financial conditions at the end of the year. 
It shows what the City owns (assets) and what it owes (liabilities). ‘Current Assets’ are items that are 
expected to be converted into cash within 12 months. Any other assets, such as infrastructure, property 
and equipment, are classified as ‘Non-Current’ as they are held for generating economic benefits 
over time. Liabilities that are expected to be paid within the next 12 months are classified as ‘Current 
Liabilities’, whilst all other liabilities are ‘Non-Current’ and represent long-term debt and obligations.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

The ‘Statement of Changes in Equity’ shows the results of financial activities over time (retained 
surplus) together with the movements in reserves and their closing balances. The amount held 
in Reserves Accounts identifies funds set aside by the City for future purchases. The Revaluation 
Reserves is the adjustments made to recognise increases in value of long-term assets, such as 
infrastructure and buildings.

Statement of Cash Flows
(Cash Flow Statement)

The ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ outlines how the City generated and used cash during the financial 
year. It provides insight into the City’s liquidity and its capacity to meet future cash obligations. Cash 
flows can occur through:

	• Operating Activities (receipt of rates, fees, interest, operating grants, or other revenue)

	• Investing Activities (sale, purchase or construction of property, plant or equipment, capital grants)

	• Financing Activities (repayment of borrowings or proceeds of new loans)

Statement of Financial Activity
(Rate Setting Statement)

The ‘Statement of Financial Activity ’ demonstrates how the City raises and uses funding and infers 
the amount of revenue required to be derived from Rates. In effect, it considers the proposed 
expenditures then allows for funding from all sources, including Rates. Since the City intends to 
deliver a neutral closing position the Rates can be ‘back solved’ as the remaining portion of revenue 
to achieve this result.

Each of these major financial statements will have cross references to the ‘Notes to the Accounts’, 
which provides additional details on the composition of value shown in the financial statements.
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2024

CITY OF NEDLANDS

To the Council of the City of Nedlands

Qualified Opinion
I have audited the financial report of the City of Nedlands (City) which comprises:

• the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and statement of financial 
activity for the year then ended

• notes comprising a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of my report, the financial report:

• is based on proper accounts and records

• presents fairly, in all material respects, the results of the operations of the City for the year 
ended 30 June 2024 and its financial position at the end of that period

• is in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 (the Act) and, to the extent that they 
are not inconsistent with the Act, Australian Accounting Standards.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Financial report comparative information not supported with complete and accurate 
underlying records
I was unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the prior year
financial report, as the financial report was submitted for audit purposes without complete and
accurate underlying records. My opinion on the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2023
was modified accordingly. My opinion on the current year financial report is also modified
because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current year’s figures
and the corresponding figures.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section below. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my qualified opinion.
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Emphasis of Matter - Restatement of assets, liabilities and equity as at 1 July 2023
I draw attention to Note 29 of the financial report which states that historical errors in assets,
liabilities and equity amounts reported have been corrected in opening balances as at 1 July
2023 in this financial report. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other information
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the preparation and the Council for 
overseeing the other information. The other information is the information in the entity’s annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but not the financial report and my auditor’s report. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not receive the other information prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to the CEO 
and Council and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated information is 
not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report. 

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer and Council for the financial report
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the City is responsible for:

• keeping proper accounts and records

• preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the requirements 
of the Act, the Regulations and Australian Accounting Standards

• managing internal control as required by the CEO to ensure the financial report is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the CEO is responsible for:

• assessing the City’s ability to continue as a going concern

• disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

• using the going concern basis of accounting unless the State Government has made 
decisions affecting the continued existence of the City.

The Council is responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial report. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  

My independence and quality management relating to the report on the financial 
report
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQM 1 
Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements, the Office of the 
Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of quality management including 
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial report
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the City of Nedlands for the year ended 30 
June 2024 included in the annual report on the City’s website. The City’s management is 
responsible for the integrity of the City’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the 
integrity of the City’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the annual 
report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to contact the City to confirm the information contained 
in the website version. 

Sandra Labuschagne
Deputy Auditor General
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
5 September 2025
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4.2 Questions Submitted on the Annual Report 2023/24 by 
Electors prior to the meeting 

 
The Chief Executive Officer will respond to questions that were submitted in writing 
prior to the meeting. 
 
5 GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
5.1 General business submitted by Electors prior to the meeting 

and during the meeting. 
 
A period of 15 minutes will be allocated for questions by members of the public.  
  
Each member of the public with a question is entitled to ask up to two questions 
before other members of the public will be invited to ask their questions. 
  
Please raise your hand and the Presiding Member will call you to the public 
microphone. Please speak clearly into the microphone and state your name, address 
and question. 
  
If your question cannot be answered at this time, it will be taken on notice and an 
Officer will respond as soon as possible. 
  
If a question has been received prior to the meeting and the person is not present at 
the meeting, the response will be provided in the minutes which will be available on 
the City’s website. 
 
6 MOTIONS 
 
During this part of the Agenda, electors may put motions to the electors present.  
  
Please raise your hand and the Mayor will call you to the front of the room. Please 
speak clearly into the microphone and state your name, address and motion.  
  
Any motions arising from the meeting requiring action will be presented to the next 
available Ordinary Council Meeting for consideration. 
 
7 DECLARATION OF CLOSURE 
 
There being no further business, the Presiding Member will declare the meeting 
closed. 
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